V.37

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

FILED
SID J. WHITE 5 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO.: 79,941

HCA HEALTH SERVICES OF FLORIDA, INC., etc., et al.,

Appellant(s),

v.

GUS BRANCHESI, as Personal Representative, etc.,

Appellee(s).

ON APPEAL FROM

THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

GAY, RAMSEY & LEWIS, P.A.
1601 Forum Place, Suite 701
P.O. Box 4117
West Palm Beach, Florida 33402
(407) 640-4200
Counsel for Appellant,
HCA HEALTH SERVICES OF FLORIDA,
INC., d/b/a HCA MEDICAL CENTER
OF PORT ST. LUCIE

By. JANIS BRUSTARES KEYSER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 15, 1989, Adria Branchesi was admitted to the Appellant Hospital where she died of a pulmonary embolus the following day. (R. 2) On January 26, 1990, the Appellee Branchesi mailed the Hospital a Notice of Intent to Initiate Litigation for Medical Malpractice. (R. 2) The Hospital responded by offering to admit liability and by agreeing to submit to binding voluntary arbitration pursuant to Sections 766.106(3)(b) and 766.207, Florida Statutes. (R. 6-7)

Branchesi neither accepted nor rejected the Hospital's offer but instead filed a complaint for declaratory relief requesting a judicial determination of the constitutionality of Sections 766.207 and 766.209, Florida Statutes (1989). (R. 1-9) Both Branchesi and the Hospital moved the trial court for summary judgment on the issue of the constitutionality of said statutory sections. (R.

26-30; 31-34) Branchesi's Motion for Summary Judgment asserted the unconstitutionality of Sections 766.207 and 766.209 on the grounds that:

- (1) the statutes deprived Branchesi of his constitutional right of access to the courts;
- (2) the statutes deprived Branchesi of his constitutional right to trial by jury;
- (3) the statutes deprived Branchesi of his constitutional right to equal protection under the law;
- (4) the statutes deprived Branchesi of his constitutional right to procedural due process;
- (5) the statutes deprived Branchesi of his constitutional right to substantive due process;
- (6) the statutes constitute an impermissible taking of property without due process of law;
- (7) the statutes invade judicial rule-making authority; and
- (8) the statutes were enacted in violation of the single subject legislation rule.

The Hospital moved for summary judgment asserting the constitutionality of Sections 766.207 and 766.209, Florida Statutes (1989), and countering the constitutional challenges raised by Branchesi. (R. 31-34)

The trial court granted Branchesi's Motion for Summary Judgment and in a final declaratory judgment, the trial court held

that Florida Statute Sections 766.207 and 766.209 are unconstitutional under the Florida and United States Constitutions in accordance with the arguments presented by the Plaintiff. 496-97, 498-99). On appeal, the Fourth District affirmed the trial court's ruling that the statute violates Florida Constitutions' access to courts and right to jury trial provisions based on the reasoning set forth in the Third District's opinion in University of Miami v. Echarte, 585 So.2d (Fla 3d 1991). The Third District's opinion in Echarte is presently pending before the Supreme Court, Case No. 78,120. The Third District in Echarte held that these statutes unconstitutionally denied the right of access to the courts. The Court in Echarte expressly declined to consider the other constitutional challenges raised by the Appellant in that case.

Sections 766.207 and 766.209 were enacted by the Florida Legislature to protect the public from the medical malpractice crisis, which affects the availability and affordability of medical care in Florida. Prior to the enactment of these statutes, through the Tort and Insurance Reform Act of 1986, the Legislature established the Academic Task Force for Review of the Insurance and Tort Systems to analyze the medical malpractice crisis and recommend solutions. See Chapter 86-160, Laws of Florida. After conducting an extensive study of the malpractice

crisis, the Task Force recommended a comprehensive program to address the problems underlying the medical malpractice crisis.

(See "Preliminary Fact Finding Report on Medical Malpractice" released by the Task Force on August 14, 1987 and "Medical Malpractice Recommendations" released by the Task Force on November 6, 1987 and Final Recommendations dated March 1, 1988 attached hereto as A. 2, A. 4 and A. 6.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Sections 766.207 and 766.209, Florida Statutes (1989), do not violate the Florida Constitution's access to court's provision because these statutory sections satisfy the two-prong test set forth in <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). These statutes were enacted by the Legislature based on its finding of an overriding public necessity and that there was no alternative means available to address the problem. The statutory sections also provide both an alternative remedy and a commensurate benefit in lieu of a traditional recovery in tort.

The statutes at issue do not violate Florida's constitutional right to jury trial. The statutory provisions are voluntary and provide adequate alternative benefits to both plaintiffs and defendants in exchange for jury trial. The statutes provide the right of either party to obtain a jury trial and imposes a contingent cap on non-economic damages only where the plaintiff refuses the alternative remedy of arbitration.

The instant statutes do not violate the constitutional right to equal protection under the law. The contingent cap on non-economic damages apply in a similar manner to all medical malpractice claimants. In addition, the statutes bear a reasonable relationship to the legitimate state interest of protecting the public health by assuring the availability of

adequate and reasonably priced medical care for the citizens of Florida.

The statutes at issue do not violate procedural or substantive due process. The statutes bear a reasonable relationship to the permissible legislative objective of assuring adequate and reasonable medical care for the citizens of Florida.

The effect of the statutes does not constitute an unconstitutional taking of private property without due process of law. Florida does not recognize that a plaintiff has a vested property interest in a cause of action. In addition, there is no constitutional taking under the state's eminent domain powers.

The statutes do not violate the separation of powers provision of the Florida Constitution. The procedural provisions contained in the statutes are necessary for the proper implementation of the substantive provisions of the statutes and, therefore, do not constitute an invasion of the judicial rule making authority.

Finally, the legislative act of which the statutes at issue form a part of do not violate the single subject requirement of Florida's Constitution. The provisions of the act satisfy the "common sense test" because the provisions "are fairly and naturally germane to the subject of the act," and as the matters contained in the act "have a natural or logical connection."

ARGUMENT

I. SECTIONS 766.207 and 766.209, FLORIDA STATUTES (1989), DO NOT VIOLATE ARTICLE I SECTION 21 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION - THE RIGHT OF ACCESS TO COURTS.

Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution provides:

The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay.

The seminal case applicable to this issue is <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). In <u>Kluger</u>, the Florida Supreme Court held that a legislative enactment which abolishes a pre-existing common law right does not violate the right of access to the courts where (1) it provides a reasonable alternative remedy or commensurate benefit, <u>or</u> (2) where the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of the right and there is no alternative method of meeting such public necessity. <u>See also</u>, <u>Smith v. Department of Insurance</u>, 507 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1987). The Statutes at issue satisfy the two-prong test set forth in <u>Kluger</u> and are, therefore, constitutional.

A. The Statutes Provide a Reasonable Alternative Remedy and Commensurate Benefit for a Medical Negligence Claimant

In enacting these statutes, the Legislature furnished medical negligence claimants with a remedy not previously available and one which provides a prompt, certain and preferable alternative to

expensive, uncertain and time-consuming trial litigation. Sections 766.207 and 766.209, Florida Statutes, were designed to reduce delay, provide for prompt payment of claims, and reduce the amount of attorneys' fees and costs, which must be paid by both the claimant and the defendant. The benefits, for both the claimant and the defendant, under the arbitration scheme are:

- (1) When the defendant makes an offer to have damages determined by voluntary binding arbitration, he agrees not to contest the issue of negligence with respect to the care provided.
- (2) The defendant agrees to be bound by and comply with the decision of the arbitration panel.
- (3) The defendant is obligated to pay the claimant's reasonable attorneys' fees and costs in the arbitration. Section 766.207(f), Florida Statutes (1989).
- (4) The defendant is obligated to pay the costs of the arbitration proceeding and the fees of all arbitrators. Section 766.207(7)(g).
- (5) The defendant is required to pay interest on all accrued damages. Section 766.207(7)(e), Florida Statutes (1989).
- (6) The defendant(s) who submit to the arbitration proceeding is held jointly and severally liable for all damages assessed (thus precluding applicability of Section 768.81, Florida Statutes, which abrogated the joint and several liability doctrine for non-economic damages and for economic damages under certain circumstances.) Section 768.207(7)(h), Florida Statutes (1989).

- (7) The defendant must pay an arbitration award within twenty (20) days after the determination of damages by the arbitration panel. Section 766.211(1), Florida Statutes (1989).
- (8) The defendant must pay the amount awarded in the arbitration proceeding within twenty (20) days of the determination of damages by the arbitration panel, or, commencing ninety (90) days after the damage award is rendered, the award begins to accrue interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per year (rather than at the twelve percent [12%] per year rate which normally accrues to judgments at trial). Section 766.211, Florida Statutes (1989).
- (9) The arbitration award is only subject to limited administrative type appeal pursuant to Section 120.68. In addition, an appeal does not serve to stay the neither arbitration award and arbitration panel nor a circuit court judge can stay the award pending appeal. This abolishes the defendant's right to supersede a judgment by posting adequate and sufficient bond at twelve percent (12%) interest and by its very terms proceeding to appeal more completed expeditiously. The stay Appellate Court can only payments of an arbitration award "manifest and justices" is shown. arbitration award would rarely be stayed. Furthermore, even if such stay granted, interest will continue to run at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) rather than the twelve percent (12%) rate of interest which normally accrues Section 766.212, judgments on appeal. Florida Statutes (1989).

- 9 -

The foregoing demonstrates that unlike the statute at issue in <u>Smith</u>, which placed an absolute \$450,000 cap on the non-economic damages a tort victim could recover, the Legislature established an alternative remedy and commensurate benefit in Sections 766.207 and 766.209. As stated by the Academic Task Force:

The plan's constitutional limitation non-economic damages differs from the absolute cap that was held to be unconstitutional in Smith v. Department of Insurance. First, it applies only to medical malpractice claims, where a special need has been established by specific research findings. Second, it is part of a balanced plan to facilitate early resolution of meritorious claims, thereby providing commensurate benefits in exchange for the reduced damage remedy. The \$250,000 conditional limitation on non-economic damages applies only with consent of both parties and \$350,000 limitation on the non-economic damages applies only if the plaintiff has refused an opportunity to receive expedited payments of limited damages without having to prove fault.

(Appendix 4, p. 27).

The cap on non-economic damages in the statutes at issue in this case is not absolute but rather contingent on one of the parties requesting the arbitration procedure. If a defendant rejects a claimant's offer for voluntary binding arbitration, the action proceeds to trial without any damage limitation. If plaintiff prevails, they can recover pre-judgment interest and attorneys' fees up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the award

reduced to present value. Accordingly, unlike the statute at issue in <u>Smith</u>, which provided no quid pro whatsoever, the statutes at issue in this case viewed, provides advantages for both plaintiffs and defendants.

The alternative remedy and commensurate benefit established by the statutes at issue here are comparable to those provided by the Worker's Compensation Law which has been upheld as constitutional against claims of denial of access to the courts. In <u>Kluger</u>, the Florida Supreme Court noted that:

Worker's compensation abolished the right to sue one's employer in tort for a job-related injury, but provided adequate, sufficient, and even preferable safeguards for an employee who is injured on the job, thus satisfying one of the exceptions to the rule against abolition of the right to redress for an injury.

281 So.2d at 4.

The Florida Supreme Court again addressed and upheld the Worker's Compensation Law against the challenge that the 1979 Legislature's replacement of permanent partial disability benefits, with the enactment of a permanent impairment and wage loss benefit system, denied injured workers the constitutional right to access to the courts in Acton v. Fort Lauderdale Hospital, 440 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1983). In upholding the law's constitutionality, the Court stated:

> The Worker's Compensation Law remains reasonable alternative to tort litigation. change from lump save payments for permanent partial disability to a system offering such payments only for permanent impairments and wage loss benefits for other types of partial disability may disadvantage some workers, such as Mr. Acton. On the other hand, the new system offers greater benefits to injured workers who still suffer a wage loss after reaching maximum medical recovery. The Worker's Compensation Law continues to substantial advantages to injured workers, including full medical care and wage loss payments for total or partial disability without their having to endure the delay and uncertainty of tort litigation. Subsections 440.15(3)(a) and (b) do not violate the access to the court's provision of the Florida Constitution as interpreted in Kluger v. White.

440 So.2d at 1284.

The <u>Acton</u> case was relied upon by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Mahoney v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.</u>, 440 So.2d 1285 (Fla. 1983), where an injured Sears employee suffered an eighty percent (80%) loss of vision to an eye and received only \$1,200 in impairment benefits. The injured employee argued that the Worker's Compensation Statute unconstitutionally deprived him of access to the courts for redress of his injury. In disagreeing with the injured employee, the Court stated:

In <u>Acton v. Fort Lauderdale Hospital</u>, 440 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 1983), we held that subsections 440.15(3)(a) and (b), Florida Statutes (1981), do not violate constitutional guarantees of access to the courts and equal protection. [The injured employee] Mahoney

> might well have received more compensation for the loss of his eye prior to the legislative amendments to the Worker's Compensation Law in Mahoney, however, received fully paid medical care and wage loss benefits during his recovery from his on-the-job accident without having to suffer the delay and uncertainty of seeking a recovery in tort from his employer Worker's Compensation, or a third party. still stands therefore, as reasonable а litigation alternative. The \$1,200 award for loss of sight in one eye may appear inadequate and unfair, but it does not render the Statute unconstitutional.

440 So.2d at 1285-86.

The Florida Supreme Court again upheld the constitutionality of the Florida Worker's Compensation Law against a denial of access to the courts challenge in Sasso v. Ram Property Management, 452 So.2d 932 (Fla. 1984). In that case, a landscape gardener, who had lied about his true age in obtaining employment with Ram Property Management, was injured while on the job. Since his injury resulted in a permanent impairment and since he was unable to find alternate employment, the injured employee filed a complaint for permanent total disability and wage loss benefits under the Worker's Compensation Law. Due to the fact that the Worker's Compensation Law cut off wage loss benefits at age sixty-five (65), and the injured employee was seventy-eight (78) at the time of the injury, the Deputy Commissioner found the employee ineligible for wage loss benefits and also denied permanent total disability In upholding the Worker's Compensation Law against the payments.

injured employee's constitutional challenge, the Florida Supreme Court stated:

Sasso [the injured employee] urges that the Worker's Compensation Law, which abolishes the right to sue one's employer and substitutes right to receive benefits under the compensation scheme, has denied him access to the courts without providing a substitute. In <u>Kluger v. White</u>, 281 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1973), this Court held that "the Legislature is without power to abolish [a right to redress for a particular injury provided by statute before the adoption of the Declaration of the Rights of the Florida Constitution] without providing a reasonable alternative." argues that because he no longer may sue his employer for lost wages, and because of his age, he has been denied any "reasonable alternative" to his right to sue, in violation of Article I, Section 21, of the Florida Constitution.

However, we find that Sasso has been provided with a reasonable alternative. expenses were covered by worker's compensation benefits, and he received temporary total disability benefits during his convalescence. Permanent total disability benefits were available to him if he had qualified and any future medical expenses related to his injury are also covered. Sasso thus has received some of the compensation which a tort suit might have provided had he been forced to pay his own expenses and subsequently seek redress in court. Such partial remedy does not constitute an abolition of rights without reasonable alternative as contemplated in Kluger v. White. (Emphasis supplied)

452 So.2d at 934.

The Florida Supreme Court recently addressed, once again, the constitutionality of the Worker's Compensation Law against a

violation of access to the court's challenge in <u>Martinez v.</u>
<u>Scanlan</u>, 582 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Martinez</u>, the Court stated:

This Court previously has rejected claims that worker's compensation laws violate access to courts by failing to provide a reasonable alternative to common law tort remedies.

. . .

Likewise, we reject Scanlan's claim in the case. Although Chapter 90-201 instant undoubtedly reduces benefits to eligible workers, the Worker's Compensation Law remains a reasonable alternative to tort litigation. It continues to provide injured workers with full medical care and wage loss payments for total or partial disability regardless of fault and without the delay and uncertainty of tort litigation. Furthermore, while there are situations where an employee would be eligible for benefits under the pre-1990 Worker's Compensation Law and now, as a result of Chapter 90-201, is no longer eligible, that employee is not without a remedy. There still may remain the viable alternative of tort litigation in these instances. As to this attack, the Statute passes constitutional muster.

Id. at 1171-72.

Similarly, this Court has consistently upheld Florida's no-fault automobile insurance statutes against a right of access to court's challenge. In <u>Lasky v. State Farm Insurance Company</u>, 296 So.2d 9 (Fla. 1974), this Court found that the Legislature had established a reasonable alternative to tort recovery for pain and suffering damages by requiring motor vehicle owners to maintain

insurance. This insurance would provide recovery to injured parties for their economic losses even if they were at fault; speedy payment by the insured's insurer of medical cost and lost wages and immunity from suit/loss of right of action proceeds for pain and suffering unless permanent injury was established or certain threshold medical expense requirements were met.

The constitutionality of later amendments to the "no-fault" insurance statutes were upheld by this Court in Chapman v. Dillon, 415 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1982). The Court noted that the "no-fault" statute, while lowering personal injury protection benefits and increasing the amount of permitted optional deductibles, still assured injured parties prompt recovery of their major and salient economic losses. The Court stated:

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