SID J พิษมาศ 23 SUPREME COURT CILERY Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. 79,941 and 79,942

HCA HEALTH SERVICES OF FLORIDA, INC. and PERRY R. LLOYD, III,

Appellants,

vs.

GUS BRANCHESI, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Adria Branchesi, deceased,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

CONSOLIDATED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE BRANCHESI TO THE SEPARATE BRIEFS OF APPELLANTS HCA AND LLOYD

COLSON, HICKS, EIDSON, COLSON & MATTHEWS 200 South Biscayne Boulevard, 47th Floor Miami, Florida 33131 -and-PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800

------------------------------	---	----

- ix -

AUTHORITIES

Page

§ 766.201, Fla. Stat. (1991) 21-22
§ 766.203, Fla. Stat. (1991)
§ 766.206, Fla. Stat. (1991) 16
§ 766.207, Fla. Stat. (1991) 2, 5-6, 14, 17, 19, 43
§ 766.209, Fla. Stat. (1991) 5-6, 13-14, 17-19, 35-36, 43, 45, 60
§ 766.301, Fla. Stat. (1991) 27
§ 768.20, Fla. Stat. (1991) 44
§ 768.54, Fla. Stat. (1982)
Rule 1.140, Fla. R. Civ. P 59
2 A. Larson, The Law of Workman's Compensation ¶65.10 (1986) 16

I STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Both appellants have accurately summarized the procedural history of this case. We should note that, with one important exception, all of the constitutional arguments have already been briefed in *University of Miami v. Echarte*, Case No. 78,210, which was argued on May 8 before six Justices of this Court (Justice Kogan having recused himself). The one exception, however, is important: *Echarte* is a personal-injury case, and the instant case is a wrongful-death case. That difference gives rise to one additional and important argument for the plaintiffs--that the statutes at issue violate equal protection because they cap non-economic damages at either \$350,000.00 or \$250,000.00 for *each claimant* in a personal-injury case, while limiting the *single claimant* in a wrongful-death case--the personal representative, who may be representing several survivors as well as the estate--to a *total* of \$350,000.00 or \$250,000.00. We will develop this point in discussing the equal-protection argument later in the brief. The point here is that even if the Court should reject all of the plaintiffs' arguments for unconstitutionality in *Echarte*, there is one additional argument to be addressed here.

II <u>ISSUE ON APPEAL</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECLARING THAT §§ 766.207 AND 766.209, FLA. STAT. (1991), ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL, AND THAT THE PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO A JURY TRIAL OF HIS MEDICAL MALPRACTICE CLAIM, AT WHICH HE MAY RECOVER THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF THE SURVIVORS' AND ESTATE'S ACTUAL DAMAGES.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As a preliminary matter, we note that the trial court's order contains only the summary ruling that the plaintiff's motion for summary judgment was granted, and that "[i]n

LAW OFFICES, PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800 accordance with the arguments presented by the plaintiff, this Court declares that §§ 766.207 and 766.209, Fla. Stat. (1989), are unconstitutional under the Florida and United States Constitutions" (R. 496-97). Thus, the trial court did not specify the basis for its ruling, other than to invoke both the Florida and federal constitutions; and as both defendants have acknowledged, the plaintiff advanced below a number of different arguments, under both constitutions--all of which are available as a basis for affirming the trial court's ruling, under the familiar "right for the wrong reason" rule. *See Landis v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 546 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1989). In order to prevail here, therefore, the defendants must rebut *all* of the asserted bases of the trial court's rulings; if any one of them is correct, the statutes are unconstitutional, and the plaintiff's declaratory judgment must be affirmed.

First and most obvious, as the district courts held here and in University of Miami v. Echarte, 585 So.2d 293 (Fla. 3d DCA), review granted, Case No. 78,210 (Fla. 1991), the statutes plainly violate the Florida constitutional guarantee of access to the courts, because they delegate to defendants the unilateral right to drastically slash the damages to which a plaintiff has been entitled under the common law, whether or not the plaintiff accepts a defendant's demand for arbitration. The so-called "alternative" of arbitration is therefore illusory, because the plaintiff's damages are even more constricted if he chooses that alternative than if he does not. In essence, therefore, the statute is nothing more than a cap on damages at the defendant's discretion, and from that perspective, under a clear line of Supreme Court decisions, it violates the right of access to courts.

Second, the statutes also violate the Florida constitutional guarantee of trial by jury, by recognizing and preserving a plaintiff's common-law right to the full measure of his damages if the defendant chooses to litigate the case, while delegating to the defendant the unilateral choice of denying the plaintiff his pre-existing right of trial by jury by demanding arbitration. Third, the statutes violate the Florida and federal due process prohibitions

LAW OFFICES, PODHURST ORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

against taking property without just compensation, because they recognize the plaintiff's full measure of damages after his cause of action has arisen, while delegating to the defendant the power to take away that well-recognized property right. Fourth, the statutes violate the federal and Florida guarantees of equal protection, because they discriminate against wrongful-death claimants in medical-malpractice cases, and because they discriminate against those medical-malpractice plaintiffs who suffer the most damages.

Fifth, the statutes violate the federal and Florida guarantees of substantive and procedural due process, because they draw arbitrary and indefensible lines which have no reasonable relationship to any governmental objectives, and deny access to the courts. Sixth, the enacting legislation violated the Florida constitutional requirement of a single subject, because it embraced both tort reform and health-care regulation, which do not bear a necessary relationship to each other. And seventh, the statutes violate the Florida Constitution's separation of powers, both because they regulate procedure, and because they delegate unbridled discretion to medical-malpractice defendants.

At the risk of stating the obvious, we remind the Court that every one of these arguments is a *constitutional* argument. The defendants have repeatedly entreated this Court to defer to the legislature's judgment on the wisdom of this legislation, and to the academic recommendations upon which it was based, and thus to ignore the purposeful constraints placed upon legislative authority by the far-higher authority of the Constitutions of the State of Florida and the United States of America. Those constraints exist to protect otherwise-powerless individuals like Adria Branchesi and her survivors against (in the late Justice Terrell's words) "the tyranny of the majority."^y In our tripartite system of government, that

¹ Address entitled "The Judiciary and Democracy," given by Justice Glenn Terrell in St. Augustine, Florida (circa 1942), *quoted in In Re Inquiry Concerning a Judge*, 357 So.2d 172, 181 (Fla. 1978) (C.J. Overton, concurring).

LAW OFFICES, PODHURSTORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOWOLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

is the Court's most important job, and it does not sit as a "superlegislature" when it fulfills that constitutional role.² This Court has not shirked from that task in the past; and the Court recently emphasized its propriety in *Smith v. Department of Insurance*, 507 So.2d 1080, 1089 (Fla. 1987), where it declared unconstitutional the legislature's first attempt at enacting damage "caps," observing in the process that constitutional rights cannot be subordinated to "legislative grace" or "majoritarian whim," and that "[t]here are political systems where constitutional rights are subordinated to the power of the executive or legislative branches, but ours is not such a system."

Moreover, we cannot resist underscoring the irony that the defendants have invoked majoritarian principles in this particular case. After this Court declared arbitrary damage "caps" unconstitutional in *Smith* (and after the damage "caps" in issue here were enacted), the medical industry mounted a multi-million dollar "Amendment 10" campaign to overrule *Smith*, and to write damage "caps" into the Florida Constitution. The Court will remember that the amendment was soundly defeated by an overwhelming majority of the people of the State of Florida. While the proposed amendment was not identical to the statutes in issue here, the substance and thrust of the two were clearly the same, and it would therefore appear that the "legislative majority" which enacted the statutes in issue here was simply that, a *legislative* majority of the electorate which ultimately endorsed the Court's decision in *Smith*. If any deference is to be given to any majority here, we respectfully submit that such deference is owed to the people rather than the legislature. We turn to the specific provisions of the state and federal constitutions which the legislature violated when it enacted §§766.207 and 766.209, Fla. Stat. (1991).

LAW OFFICES, PODHURSTORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOW OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

² See generally Getzen v. Sumter County, 89 Fla. 45, 103 So. 104 (1925); State ex rel. Lawson v. Woodruff, 134 Fla. 437, 184 So. 81 (1938).

IV ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DECLARING THAT §§766.207 AND 766.209, FLA. STAT. (1991), ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

A. The Violation of Article 1 §21 of the Florida Constitution.

1. The Legal Background. Stripped of the hyperbole and the various makeweights with which §§766.207 and 766.209 have been defended here, the obvious purpose and effect of the statutes is quite simple. The statutes do not purport to limit *any* of a medical malpractice victim's rights if a defendant contests liability in a court of law and loses; they operate only when a negligent defendant is willing to concede liability (after that liability has been demonstrated to him in the statutory "pre-suit investigation" process leading to the "notice of intent letter" in which the plaintiff is required to prove a *prima facie* case of negligence to the defendant-*-see* §766.203, Fla. Stat.) by, in the euphemistic phrase adopted by most defendants, "requesting arbitration." When that occurs, a plaintiff's damages are immediately "capped."

If the plaintiff accepts the defendant's demand for arbitration, \$766.207 limits the plaintiff's damages to 80% of his lost income and loss of earning capacity, and to a maximum of \$250,000.00 for his non-economic damages, calculated as a percentage of the plaintiff's lost capacity for the enjoyment of life.³ If the plaintiff declines the defendant's demand for arbitration, opting instead to exercise his constitutional right to a jury trial on the issues of liability and damages, the plaintiff's economic damages are limited to 80% of his lost income and loss of earning capacity, and his non-economic damages are limited to \$350,000.00.

³² For example, as 66.207(7)(b) puts it, "a finding that the claimant's injuries resulted in a 50-percent reduction in his capacity to enjoy life would warrant an award of not more than 125,000 non-economic damages."

LAW OFFICES, PODHURSTORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOWOLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

In short, the statutes in issue here impose damage "caps" upon a medical malpractice victim simply to encourage a negligent defendant to admit the negligent conduct proven in the plaintiff's "pre-suit investigation" and "notice of intent letter." They are, at bottom, merely a financial reward for admitting liability and arbitrating damages, and they are really no more complicated than that. The question is therefore this: can the legislature permissibly "cap" a medical malpractice victim's recovery of his actual damages simply to encourage negligent defendants to admit liability without a trial. In our judgment, as two trial courts and two district courts have held, to "cap" a medical malpractice victim's recovery in that fashion and for that reason violates Article I, \$21 of the Florida Constitution, which provides: "The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay."

The seminal decision construing this provision is, of course, *Kluger v. White*, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), in which this Court struck down a statutory threshold of \$550.00 in property damages as a prerequisite to tort actions arising from automobile accidents. The constitutional right of access to the courts, the Court held, applies to all causes of action recognized prior to the adoption of the 1968 Florida Constitution. To permit the legislative abolition of such a right, Article I, \$21 requires that the plaintiff be provided with a reasonable alternative or a commensurate benefit, or that the legislature demonstrate both an overpowering public necessity for abolition of the right and the absence of a less onerous alternative:

We hold, therefore, that where a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida, or where such a right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 2.-01, F.S.A., the Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for

7

LAW OFFICES, PODHURSTORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOWOLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

injuries, unless the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

281 So.2d at 4. Because the statute at issue in *Kluger* provided no alternative means of redress for those suffering less than \$550.00 in property damage, and reflected no overpowering public necessity for the abolition, it was declared unconstitutional.

Fourteen years later, in *Smith v. Department of Insurance*, 507 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1987)--a decision which we believe to be controlling of the nearly identical question at issue here--this Court applied the *Kluger* test to overturn a statutory \$450,000.00 cap on damages for non-economic losses in personal injury cases. At the outset, it held that a tort victim's right to recover the full amount of both his economic and non-economic damages was fully protected by Article I, \$21. The Court then reiterated the *Kluger* test, and explained why the "caps" at issue in *Smith* were constitutionally impermissible, as follows:

.... There is no relevant distinction between the issue in *Kluger* and the issue here. In *Kluger*, the legislature attempted to unconstitutionally restrict the right of redress at the bottom of the damages spectrum; here, it attempts to restrict the top of the spectrum. Neither restriction is permissible unless one of the *Kluger* exceptions is met; i.e., (1) providing a reasonable alternative remedy or commensurate benefit, or (2) legislative showing of overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of the right *and* no alternative method of meeting such public necessity.

.... Here, the benefits of a \$450,000 cap on non-economic damages run in only one direction because the potential plaintiffs and defendants stand on different footing. For example, a medical patient or the client of a lawyer obtains no compensatory benefit from a cap placed on non-economic damages because of the unlikeliness of negligence by a patient or client.

. . . .

Appellees also argue, and the trial court below agreed, that the

8

LAW OFFICES, PODHURSTORSECK JOSEFSBERG EATON MEADOWOLIN & PERWIN, P.A. - OF COUNSEL, WALTER H. BECKHAM, JR. 25 WEST FLAGLER STREET - SUITE 800, MIAMI, FLORIDA 33130-1780 (305) 358-2800

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